## **TORBAY** COUNCIL

Clerk: Governance Support Governance Support

Telephone: 01803 207013 Town Hall
E-mail address: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
Date: Thursday, 04 March 2021 Torquay

TQ1 3DR

Dear Member

# CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD - MONDAY, 1 MARCH 2021

I am now able to enclose, for consideration at the Monday, 1 March 2021 meeting of the Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Board, the following reports that were unavailable when the agenda was printed.

Agenda No Item Page

9. Review of the Youth Offending Team (Pages 13 - 70)

These reports were embargoed until 3 March 2021

but have now been made public.

Yours sincerely

Governance Support Clerk



An inspection of youth offending services in

# **Torbay YOT**

HM Inspectorate of Probation, March 2021

### **Acknowledgements**

This inspection was led by HM Inspector Maria Jerram, supported by a team of inspectors and colleagues from across the Inspectorate. We would like to thank all those who helped plan and took part in the inspection; without their help and cooperation, the inspection would not have been possible.

### The role of HM Inspectorate of Probation

Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Probation is the independent inspector of youth offending and probation services in England and Wales. We report on the effectiveness of probation and youth offending service work with adults and children.

We inspect these services and publish inspection reports. We highlight good and poor practice and use our data and information to encourage high-quality services. We are independent of government and speak independently.

### © Crown copyright 2021

You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit <a href="https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence">www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence</a> or email <a href="mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk">psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk</a>.

This publication is available for download at:

www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation

Published by:

Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Probation 1st Floor Civil Justice Centre 1 Bridge Street West Manchester M3 3FX

Follow us on Twitter @HMI Probation

### Contents

Introduction	4
Ratings	6
Recommendations	7
Background	8
Contextual facts	10
1. Organisational delivery	11
1.1. Governance and leadership	11
1.2. Staff	14
1.3. Partnerships and services	16
1.4. Information and facilities	18
2. Court disposals	20
2.1. Assessment	20
2.2. Planning	22
2.3. Implementation and delivery	24
2.4. Reviewing	26
3. Out-of-court disposals	28
3.1. Assessment	29
3.2. Planning	31
3.3. Implementation and delivery	
3.4. Joint working	
Annexe 1: Methodology	

### Introduction

This inspection is part of our four-year programme of youth offending service (YOT) inspections. We have inspected and rated Torbay YOT across three broad areas of its work, referred to as 'domains': the arrangements for organisational delivery of the service, the quality of work done with children sentenced by the courts, and the quality of out-of-court disposal work. We inspect against 12 'standards', shared between the domains. Overall, Torbay YOT was rated as 'Requires improvement'.

Our standards are based on established models and frameworks, which are grounded in evidence, learning and experience. They are designed to drive improvements in the quality of work with children who have offended. Published scoring rules generate the overall YOT rating. The findings and subsequent ratings in those domains are described in this report. Our fieldwork, conducted through off-site analysis of case files and phone and video conferencing, took place between 26 October and 29 October 2020.

### Domain one - organisational delivery

The governance arrangements for the YOT are not robust enough. There is insufficient oversight of the needs of children supervised by the YOT at Board level. This means that the Board cannot be sure that resources are sufficient, or that partner agencies can advocate effectively for YOT children in their own services at a strategic level. There is also a lack of analysis and understanding of the overall performance of the YOT against the priorities of the youth justice plan.

The seniority of Board members has not been at the right level since the pan-Devon strategic YOT Board disaggregated and Torbay returned to a single authority Board late in 2019. Deficiencies in Board processes and effectiveness were recognised prior to the inspection and a peer review has recently been completed. The review recommendations will inform new governance processes. The YOT Head of Service has a large portfolio, and while this can provide some useful links into wider children's services, competing demands on their time makes it difficult for the YOT's business to be prioritised. Team managers have large workloads, and while the quality of management oversight of post-court work is rated as outstanding, for out-of-court disposals it is not effective.

There is a stable team of practitioners, who are committed to delivering high-quality services. This is complemented by good access to a range of services to meet a spectrum of needs.

### Domain two - court disposals

We rated the management of court disposal cases in the Torbay YOT outstanding in terms of assessment, planning, the implementation and delivery of services, and reviewing. YOT case managers demonstrated great skill in establishing useful working relationships with children and their parents or carers and were able to involve other services speedily and effectively. Staff know the children they work with and form strong relationships with them and their families. Work to support desistance, promote the safety and wellbeing of children and manage risk of harm to others was judged to be of a consistently high quality.

### **Domain three – out-of-court disposals**

Work with children to deliver out-of-court disposals was insufficient in all cases, as was partnership working and joint decision-making. For community resolution cases, an assessment was not completed, so the factors linked to the child's offending were not properly understood. In all other out-of-court cases, assessments were completed after the disposal had been decided. There were serious deficits in every aspect of out-of-court work practice, particularly in work to support safety and wellbeing, and manage the risk of harm to others.

**Marc Baker** 

**Director of Operations** 

Man Buler

## Ratings

Torbay	Youth Offending Service	Score	16/36
Overal	l rating	Requires improvement	
1.		Organisational delivery	
1.1	Governance and leadership	Inadequate	
1.2	Staff	Requires improvement	
1.3	Partnerships and services	Good	
1.4	Information and facilities	Requires improvement	
2.		Court disposals	
2.1	Assessment	Outstanding	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\Longrightarrow}$
2.2	Planning	Outstanding	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\boxtimes}$
2.3	Implementation and delivery	Outstanding	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\sim}$
2.4	Reviewing	Outstanding	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\boxtimes}$
3.		Out-of-court disposals	
3.1	Assessment	Inadequate	
3.2	Planning	Inadequate	
3.3	Implementation and delivery	Inadequate	
3.4	Joint working	Inadequate	

### Recommendations

As a result of our inspection findings, we have made eight recommendations that we believe, if implemented, will have a positive impact on the quality of youth offending services in Torbay. This will improve the lives of the children in contact with youth offending services, and better protect the public.

### The YOT Management Board should:

- 1. make sure that Board members understand the specific needs of children known to the YOT and advocate on their behalf in their own agencies
- 2. develop the knowledge and understanding of the Board members role and the service's work, so they can provide effective challenge to partner agencies
- 3. review management capacity to ensure there are necessary resources to oversee the service effectively
- 4. ensure that the partnership understands the reasons for the large disparity in education provision for children involved with the YOT compared with those in the general population and put plans in place to redress this.

#### The YOT Head of Service should:

- 5. develop and update policies, procedures and guidance for out-of-court disposals to improve joint decision-making and the quality of management oversight
- 6. undertake an assessment on all children receiving an out-of-court disposal and make sure that equal attention is given to desistance, safety and wellbeing, and risk of harm to others
- 7. ensure that staff have access to the buildings and facilities they need to deliver services to children and families
- 8. embed processes for capturing feedback from children, parents and victims, and use this information to develop services.

### Background

Youth offending teams (YOTs) supervise 10-18-year-olds who have been sentenced by a court, or who have come to the attention of the police because of their offending behaviour but have not been charged – instead, they were dealt with out of court. HMI Probation inspects both these aspects of youth offending services. We use the terms child or children to denote their special legal status and to highlight the obligations of relevant agencies such as social care, education and health to meet their safety and wellbeing needs.

YOTs are statutory partnerships, and they are multidisciplinary, to deal with the needs of the whole child. They are required to have staff from local authority social care and education services, the police, the National Probation Service and local health services. Most YOTs are based within local authorities; however, this can vary.

YOT work is governed and shaped by a range of legislation and guidance specific to the youth justice sector (such as the National Standards for Youth Justice) or else applicable across the criminal justice sector (for example, Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements guidance). The Youth Justice Board for England and Wales (YJB) provides some funding to YOTs. It also monitors their performance and issues quidance to them about how things are to be done.

Torbay is located on the South Devon coast and covers three district communities: Torquay, Brixham and Paignton. Torbay faces challenges typically associated with larger urban areas, and these, coupled with its coastal location, compound the challenges of its economy. Torbay comprises areas with large material wealth alongside areas of deprivation. Torbay is ranked the 48th most deprived district in England, with 36,691 people living in the bottom 20 per cent most deprived areas, equating to 27.4 per cent of the local population. The most deprived areas are concentrated primarily around the centres of each of the three towns.

Torbay YOT is a multi-agency partnership between Torbay Council, Devon and Cornwall Police, the National Probation Service, South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group, and the Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime Commissioner. The YOT sits within an integrated youth support service (IYSS), which has a parenting worker and a healthy relationship worker in addition to the usual specialist staff associated with a YOT, such as a child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) worker, substance misuse provision, the police, a victim worker, and speech and language therapy (SALT).

In addition to statutory and out-of-court work, the YOT also delivers prevention work. Prevention cases are primarily received from the Early Help service when there is a concern that a child may be at risk of offending. The YOT caseload is currently made up of 40 per cent youth justice work and 60 per cent prevention work. The YOT is based in a dedicated building in Paignton but, along with many other council buildings, this was closed in March 2020 due to Covid-19.

In terms of national key performance indicators, the YOT reoffending and custody rates are lower than the England and Wales average, but for first-time entrants are substantially higher, and addressing this is a priority of the Torbay youth justice plan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 set out the arrangements for local YOTs and partnership working.

The YOT has not identified any issues with disproportionality in terms of ethnicity, but almost a quarter of the YOT caseload is made up of children who are in care.

The YOT/IYSS forms part of the Early Help service within children's social care (CSC). Torbay Children's Services were judged to be inadequate by Ofsted in 2015 and again in 2018, and are subject to a statutory direction by the Department for Education. A new senior leadership team, including the Chief Executive and Director of Children's Services, has been appointed in the last 12 months, and the last Ofsted monitoring visit recognised an improved focus on addressing the inadequacies in practice. Half of the children supervised by the YOT at the time of the inspection were also involved with CSC.

### Contextual facts

### Population information

136,264	Total population Torbay (2019) <sup>2</sup>
11,157	Total youth population (10–17 years) in Torbay (2019) <sup>2</sup>

Demographics of young people cautioned or sentenced<sup>3</sup>

Age	10-14 years	15–17 years
Torbay YOT	36%	64 %
National average	23%	77%

Race/ethnicity	White	Black and minority ethnic	Unknown
Torbay YOT	94%	3%	3%
National average	70%	26%	4%

Gender	Male	Female
Torbay YOT	85%	15%
National average	85%	15%

### Additional caseload data<sup>4</sup>

13	Total current caseload: community sentences
2	Total current caseload in custody
0	Total current caseload on licence
0	Total current caseload: youth caution
5	Total current caseload: youth conditional caution
6	Total current caseload: community resolution or other out-of-court disposal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2020). *UK population estimates, mid-2019.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Youth Justice Board. (2020). *Youth justice annual statistics: 2018 to 2019.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Information supplied by YOT, reflecting caseload on 19 October 2020.

### 1. Organisational delivery



### Strengths:

- The Director for Children's Services took up the position of Chair of the YOT Board at the end of 2019 and immediately identified that improvements were required. As a result, a Local Government Association (LGA) peer review was commissioned to assist in improving governance arrangements.
- The terms of reference and membership for the Board are under review and there is a commitment to strengthening and developing the function of the Board at a strategic level.
- There is a stable staff team who support children and help to improve outcomes for them.
- Children have good access to services provided by partner agencies.

#### **Areas for improvement:**

- Induction processes for new Board members need to be established so that all representatives are clear about their role and responsibilities.
- Almost two-thirds of staff responding to our survey are not aware of the
  activities of the Board, and a third do not understand the YOT vision,
  challenges and development plan, suggesting that communications need to
  be improved.
- The YOT manager post was removed from the YOT structure in 2017. Since 2017, there have been four Heads of Service, who have managed the YOT as part of a wider CSC portfolio.
- Data is not used effectively to understand the needs of children or to analyse and evaluate the impact of the work delivered.
- A decision has been made not to use the youth caution as an out-of-court disposal option, but this is not understood by senior managers. The rationale for not using the youth caution is weak and increases the possibility of children escalating through the justice system.
- In Torbay, 6 per cent of the general youth population are not in education, training or employment; for YOT children, this rises to 31 per cent. In addition, a third of those with placements are attending a pupil referral unit or alternative education provision. Understanding and addressing this disparity need to be prioritised by the Board and the partnership.

Organisations that are well led and well managed are more likely to achieve their aims. We inspect against four standards.

### 1.1. Governance and leadership



The governance and leadership of the YOT supports and promotes the delivery of a high-quality, personalised and responsive service for all children.

Inadequate

In making a judgement about governance and leadership, we take into account the answers to the following three questions:

# Is there a clear local vision and strategy for the delivery of a high-quality, personalised and responsive service for all children?

In 2018, as a result of a second inadequate Ofsted inspection finding, Torbay Children's Services joined with Plymouth Children's Services as part of a programme to improve the quality of practice and services delivered. Joint governance arrangements were put in place, and this included oversight by a pan-Devon strategic YOT Management Board. In 2019, it was assessed that the arrangements were not having enough impact, and the authorities separated. At the time of the inspection, the governance arrangements for Torbay YOT were in the process of being re-established.

The Director for Children's Services took up the position of Chair of the YOT Board at the end of 2019 and immediately identified that improvements were required. As a result, an LGA peer review was commissioned to assist in improving governance arrangements. The terms of reference and membership for the Board have recently been reviewed, and there is a commitment to strengthening and developing the function of the Board at a strategic level. Some Board members have recently been involved in the YOT self-assessment audit, to help them gain a better understanding of the quality of YOT practice. It is recognised by the Chair of the Board that processes need to be established that hold both the YOT and partners to account for the delivery of effective youth justice services.

The service has a youth justice plan and a business continuity plan in place. The Board was not involved in the development of the plans, but it is aware of their content. Almost two-thirds of staff responding to our survey are not aware of the activities of the Board, and those we spoke with felt that future plans for the service were not well communicated.

The governance of the service is not sufficiently focused on youth justice and the specific risks associated with children and young people involved in, or at risk of, offending. Board members are not of the right seniority to facilitate improvements and advocate for the YOT, and effect change in their own services. Induction processes for new Board members need to be established, so that all representatives are clear about their role and responsibilities.

# Do the partnership arrangements actively support effective service delivery?

The Director of Children's Services is the Chair of the YOT Board, and she provides links to other strategic fora, such as the Children's Safeguarding Board and the

Health and Wellbeing Board. The Chair of the Community Safety Partnership is a member of the YOT Management Board, and this creates opportunities to align agendas and priorities at a wider strategic level.

We found that the effectiveness of the YOT Management Board was hampered by members not fully understanding the needs of YOT children, data was not being used to ensure that resources are sufficient to meet their needs. There was also little evidence of Board members advocating for YOT children and prioritising them in their own services. For example, in Torbay 6 per cent of the general youth population are not in education, training or employment, and for YOT children this rises to 31 per cent. In addition, a third of those with placements are attending a pupil referral unit or alternative education provision. Understanding and addressing this should be a priority for the Board and the partnership. Some work has started with the development of a 'not in education, training or employment' improvement plan. This work has been primarily led by the YOT education worker, but it needs to be prioritised at a strategic level, given the evident disparity. The same applies to children in care, who make up just under a quarter of the YOT caseload. Understanding and addressing this is an important task for the Board.

There has been an emphasis on improving CSC service delivery at a strategic level, and leaders recognise that there has been less focus on YOT practice and service delivery. In the past 12 months, increased efforts have been made to improve the coordination of work between the YOT and CSC; for example, a CSC team manager from the single assessment team now sits on the YOT out-of-court disposal panel. Managers from the YOT attend the Early Help panel, to contribute to discussions and receive IYSS case allocations.

The number of first-time entrants in Torbay is substantially higher than the national average and addressing this is a priority for the Board. However, we found the processes for the delivery of out-of-court disposals to be underdeveloped. While the joint decision-making panel has been in place since February and has good attendance from partners, decision-making is not robust. There is no assessment tool used for community resolutions, so there is no way of knowing if interventions are targeted or focused on the needs of children and the protection of others. A decision has been made not to use the youth caution as an out-of-court disposal option, but the implications of this are not fully understood by senior managers. The rationale for not using the youth caution is weak and increases the possibility of children escalating through the justice system.

The YOT children, although relatively small in number, have a high level of need. The rationale for the YOT/IYSS taking cases from Early Help and CSC is based on the expertise of the team in working with adolescents. The Board should check that, in addition to analysing the needs of YOT children, it has mechanisms in place to monitor the impact that any additional IYSS cases may have upon limited resources, such as CAMHS, SALT and education support, to ensure that provision is sufficient.

### Does the leadership of the YOT support effective service delivery?

The YOT manager role was removed from the YOT structure in 2017. Since 2017, there have been four Heads of Service, who have managed the YOT as part of a wider CSC portfolio. The loss of a dedicated YOT manager has created a sense of instability among the team. The current Head of Service has been in post since

October 2019. The large span of control, including the single assessment team and the exploitation team, makes it difficult for them to prioritise the YOT, particularly given the focus on improvement work in CSC.

The YOT has two practice managers, who report to the Head of Service. One practice manager usually has 10 direct reports, but at the time of the inspection, owing to staffing issues, this had increased to 13. The team manager post is responsible not only for staff supervision, but also for several areas of service delivery, such as education, parenting, mental health and substance misuse. Workload pressure had had an impact on the time available to the manager to evaluate the performance of these areas of service in sufficient detail.

Most staff felt that their training needs were met and that they were well supported by their direct line managers, who are approachable and supportive. We found that management oversight for post-court work was effective in every case, but it was lacking in relation to out-of-court work.

### 1.2. Staff



Staff within the YOT are empowered to deliver a high-quality, personalised and responsive service for all children.

Requires improvement

### **Key staffing data**<sup>5</sup>

Total staff headcount (full-time equivalent, FTE)	24 staff - 18.7 FTEs
Average caseload per case manager (FTE)	4.3 (not including prevention cases)

In making a judgement about staffing, we take into account the answers to the following four questions:

### Do staffing and workload levels support the delivery of a high-quality, personalised and responsive service for all children?

The staff team is stable and committed to delivering high-quality services to children and families. Statutory cases are allocated according to the skills and experience of staff, and workloads are manageable, with most workers holding between eight and nine statutory and prevention cases. There are duty rotas in place and there is a dedicated YOT court officer.

The YOT seconded police officer holds the majority of the YOT youth conditional caution cases, undertaking assessments and delivering interventions. This is not the officer's area of expertise and this practice does not fit with the YJB guidance on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Data supplied by YOT and reflecting the caseload at the time of the inspection announcement.

role of YOT police officers (2014).6 We were informed that the case management responsibilities do not have an impact on the other duties expected from the YOT seconded police officer role, despite them holding the equivalent caseload of full-time case managing colleagues.

At the time of the inspection, one of the two YOT team manager posts was being covered temporarily by the CSC exploitation team manager, in addition to his other substantive duties. He has been selected to cover the vacancy because of his exploitation lead role, but at this stage he has limited knowledge of youth justice.

### Do the skills of YOT staff support the delivery of a high-quality, personalised and responsive service for all children?

The YOT is a multidisciplinary team, and the skills and make-up of the team reflect the children and families it works with. Staff managing statutory cases are qualified in youth justice or an alternative relevant field, and almost all feel that they have the relevant skills required for their role. Every volunteer who responded to our survey said they had received sufficient training, is well supported and feels included in the wider team.

The YOT social worker holds cases which involve Looked After Children, and their knowledge of LAC processes supports effective communication between the YOT and CSC Looked After Children teams. The probation officer holds primarily high-risk cases and oversees the transition between the YOT and adult services. All staff are trained in the delivery of harmful sexual behaviour work, which is undertaken jointly, in line with best practice guidance.

### Does the oversight of work support high-quality delivery and professional development?

Management oversight is effective in statutory cases, but there is a lack of scrutiny in relation to out-of-court work. We found assessments that were not sufficiently robust, that had been countersigned and there was a lack of challenge in relation to the quality of work. Deficits in the quality of out-of-court disposal work had not been identified prior to the inspection.

Most staff receive regular supervision, which they find helpful and supportive. SALT staff receive clinical supervision from their home organisation, and the probation officer has regular meetings with their link probation manager.

Exceptional work is noted at weekly team meetings, and the YOT recently featured in the wider CSC bulletin owing to its positive engagement in the LGA peer review and its ongoing commitment to delivering services to children during the pandemic.

### Are arrangements for learning and development comprehensive and responsive?

Some staff have been provided with opportunities to shadow managers, to find out about their role, and one worker we met delivers the youth justice element of a public heath training course at a local college as part of her development plan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Youth Justice Board for England and Wales: The Role of the YOT Police Officer. Superintendent Marion Sandwell, Senior Police Adviser.

However, not all staff have an up-to-date performance review and some feel that development opportunities are limited.

Staff said that the training they have received meets their needs. This included recent training to help them consider the impact of trauma on the children they work with. AssetPlus refresher training and other bespoke youth justice training are scheduled for 2021. Most case managers have received Assessment, Intervention, Moving on 3 (AIM3) training. All volunteers responding to our survey are satisfied with their training and the support they receive from the YOT volunteer officer.

There are regular team meetings, which staff use as an opportunity to discuss casework and share best practice.

### 1.3. Partnerships and services



A comprehensive range of high-quality services is in place, enabling personalised and responsive provision for all children.

Good

In making a judgement about partnerships and services, we take into account the answers to the following three questions:

# Is there a sufficiently comprehensive and up-to-date analysis of the profile of children, to ensure that the YOT can deliver well-targeted services?

The profile of children in Torbay underlines the wide range of issues for the YOT to address, including criminal exploitation, poor relationships, mental health concerns and poor attainment at school. While there is some understanding of these issues, a more detailed analysis is required, to ensure that these needs are being met and to influence service delivery effectively at operational and strategic levels.

The YOT/IYSS caseload is made up of 40 per cent youth justice cases and 60 per cent prevention work, which is received from other services, such as schools and Early Help. Data on the needs and profiles of children receiving prevention interventions is not routinely collected, and this means that the impact of the additional work on the YOT's limited resources is not fully understood. There is no set limit on the amount of additional prevention casework that the YOT/IYSS team can take, which means that increased demand could result in YOT children not getting prioritised for the support they need if the throughput of work is not analysed monitored and managed effectively.

# Does the YOT partnership have access to the volume, range and quality of services and interventions to meet the needs of all children?

Children can access a range of specialist services, including education support, CAMHS, substance misuse interventions, SALT and healthy relationship support. There is a dedicated parenting worker, who offers a range of services to parents and carers who need it. There are effective youth to adult transition processes in place with the Probation Service.

The YOT has developed, and delivers, the 'Respect' programme to children who have experienced/witnessed domestic abuse in the family home. The course provides a safe space for children to discuss issues relating to their experiences.

Sentencers are satisfied with the services delivered to the court and spoke highly of the 'exceptional' quality of pre-sentence reports. However, they raised a concern regarding the number of hours of education provision some children receive.

YOT staff feel that their work with children has been negatively affected in the last few months, as the building that they usually work from has been closed and they have been unable to access the resources they use to deliver interventions.

The YOT is establishing a working relationship with the Torbay Youth Trust manager, to explore opportunities for YOT children through the voluntary sector services. The Trust manager oversees 'Imagine this', which is a voluntary sector umbrella body funded by Big Lottery, with an aim to coordinate all the voluntary services in Torbay. Recent planning meetings have been taking place between the YOT and the Trust, to consider how access for YOT children to the 30-plus projects can be prioritised.

# Are arrangements with statutory partners, providers and other agencies established, maintained and used effectively to deliver high-quality services?

The YOT has been influential in raising issues of child criminal exploitation (CCE). This has contributed to a review of the multi-agency child sexual exploitation (MASE) panel to include CCE cases. The YOT is involved in multi-agency safeguarding hub strategy meetings and is also represented on the Early Help panel.

Staff report that joint work with CSC has improved substantially in the last 12 months and we saw some examples of this in the statutory cases we inspected. Processes have more recently been put in place to improve the focus on children who go missing and those who are being exploited. A new tool to identify children at risk of exploitation has been developed and YOT practitioners routinely complete this as part of the wider assessment process. The MASE panel has been restructured to incorporate CCE, in recognition of safety and wellbeing concerns for children affected by criminal exploitation. The YOT is represented on the MASE panel and also in the children missing operational group.

#### **Involvement of children and their parents and carers**

In terms of casework, we saw good involvement from children and their parents and carers in all elements of work delivered to children subject to statutory court orders. For out-of-court disposals, there was less evidence that they had been involved in assessment, planning, and implementation and delivery.

The YOT has a feedback policy which outlines how service user information, including feedback from children and their families, as well as victims, will be gathered. We saw little evidence of feedback being analysed and used to understand the experiences of any group. This is something that the leadership team recognises that it needs to improve. It is considering how it can consult children on any future decisions about service delivery.

#### 1.4. Information and facilities



Timely and relevant information is available and appropriate facilities are in place to support a high-quality, personalised and responsive approach for all children.

Requires improvement

In making a judgement about information and facilities, we take into account the answers to the following four questions:

# Are the necessary policies and guidance in place to enable staff to deliver a quality service, meeting the needs of all children?

Most staff understand the policies and procedures that apply to their role, and know where to where to find them. They are aware of how to access services and support for the children they work with and have no concerns about barriers or waiting lists.

The YOT has an out-of-court procedure in place that states that decision-making responsibility for disposals lies with the police and the YOT, but we found that in practice there was a lack of clarity about who was responsible for deciding the most suitable disposal, and the process for recording decisions was poor.

# Does the YOT's delivery environment(s) meet the needs of all children and enable staff to deliver a quality service?

All staff spoke positively about the Parkfield House site, where the YOT is located. They described a specially adapted building that has been set up specifically to meet the needs of children. There is access to large rooms where group sessions take place, and also a kitchen, where staff deliver life skills sessions to children. Owing to the pandemic and the associated restrictions, the YOT premises, along with many other council buildings, have been closed. Staff we met expressed concerns about this and said that they have had no information about when it will be reopened, or if the YOT will continue to be based there. This is a serious concern for staff and communicating the future accommodation plans to the team must be a management priority. Some staff also feel that they have not received clear guidance on how they should now be working with said that they have been given no alternative venues to use.

# Do the information and communication technology (ICT) systems enable staff to deliver a quality service, meeting the needs of all children?

Staff have suitable ICT systems to enable them to undertake their work effectively, although they raised some concerns about access to printers and shredding equipment over the past few months when they have been working from home. In terms of information held by other agencies, staff have access to the CSC database, and the YOT education worker can access education records for all children, so any school absences can be followed up swiftly. The YOT seconded police officer has access to police systems and provides information to the team daily.

### Is analysis, evidence and learning used effectively to drive improvement?

The YOT data analyst provides information to the Board on national key performance indicators and some local targets, but it has been recognised that more detailed reports about the needs of children and YOT performance are required.

No assessment tool is being used in the delivery of community resolutions, so there is no data to analyse the needs of this group of children or the quality of services delivered to them. In addition, a separate assessment is completed on IYSS prevention cases, which means that the needs of this group of children and the demand on YOT services are not fully understood.

Quality assurance has not been routinely undertaken over the past 12 months. This means that the Head of Service has not been not provided with regular reports, to help him understand the quality of practice and address any deficits.

There are no effective mechanisms to gain feedback from children and victims that can be used and analysed to review the impact of service delivery. There are plans to set up a task and finish group, to consider how the voice of the child and the victim is currently captured and how this can be improved.

The peer audit which has recently been completed resulted in the commissioning of AssetPlus refresher training.

### 2. Court disposals



We took a detailed look at three community sentences and one custodial sentence managed by the YOT. We also conducted four interviews with the relevant case managers. We examined the quality of assessment; planning; implementation and delivery of services; and reviewing.

### Strengths:

- Assessment, planning, implementation and delivery, and reviewing are 'Outstanding', with sufficient attention paid to desistance needs, safety and wellbeing, and risk of harm to others.
- Children and young people, and their parents and carers, are meaningfully involved in the work undertaken with them.
- Diversity needs and barriers to engagement are routinely considered and addressed.
- Case managers understand the children and young people they work with and have good relationships with them.
- The needs and wishes of victims are considered.
- Service delivery builds upon the child's strengths and enhances protective factors.

Work with children sentenced by the courts will be more effective if it is well targeted, planned and implemented. In our inspections, we look at a sample of cases. In each of those cases, we inspect against four standards.

#### 2.1. Assessment



Assessment is well-informed, analytical and personalised, actively involving the child and their parents/carers.

Outstanding

Our rating<sup>7</sup> for assessment is based on the following key questions:

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to support the child's desistance?	4
Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep the child safe?	4
Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep other people safe?	4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

Inspection of youth offending services: Torse 9032

Assessment was rated as 'Outstanding'. All the cases inspected were of a sufficient standard regarding supporting the child's desistance, keeping the child safe and attending to any apparent risks to individual or potential future victims.

Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to support the child's desistance?

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Is there sufficient analysis of offending behaviour, including the child's attitudes towards and motivations for their offending?	4
Does assessment consider the diversity and wider familial and social context of the child, utilising information held by other agencies?	4
Does assessment focus on the child's strengths and protective factors?	4
Where applicable, does assessment analyse the key structural barriers facing the child?	3
Is sufficient attention given to understanding the child's levels of maturity, ability and motivation to change, and their likelihood of engaging with the court disposal?	4
Does assessment give sufficient attention to the needs and wishes of the victim/s, and opportunities for restorative justice?	3
Is the child and their parents/carers meaningfully involved in their assessment, and are their views taken into account?	4

### Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep the child safe?

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does assessment clearly identify and analyse any risks to the safety and wellbeing of the child?	4
Does assessment draw sufficiently on available sources of information, including other assessments, and involve other agencies where appropriate?	4
Where applicable, does assessment analyse controls and interventions to promote the safety and wellbeing of the child?	4

### Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep other people safe?

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does assessment clearly identify and analyse any risk of harm to others posed by the child, including identifying who is at risk and the nature of that risk?	4
Does assessment draw sufficiently on available sources of information, including past behaviour and convictions, and involve other agencies where appropriate?	4

# Does assessment analyse controls and interventions to manage and minimise the risk of harm presented by the child?

4

Assessments were typically based on a broad set of information sources, including CSC, the police and mental health services, where relevant to the needs of the child.

There was an equal focus on desistance, risk of harm, and safety and wellbeing, and this resulted in high-quality, well-balanced assessments. The child's individual needs and circumstances were routinely considered, giving context to their offending and behaviour. Strengths and areas to develop were identified and there was clear evidence, in every case, of the child and their parent or carer being closely involved and engaged in the assessment process.

We agreed with the assessed level of risk to safety and wellbeing in every case. In three cases, a high level of risk was identified and there was a thorough and detailed analysis of what needed to happen to keep the children safe. In one case, we saw an excellent example of partnership work to safeguard a child who had been the victim of CCE.

It was a similar picture in relation to the assessment of risk of harm to others. We agreed with the assessed risk level in every case; in one of the four cases, a high level of risk was identified, and in another a very high level.

### 2.2. Planning



Planning is well-informed, holistic and personalised, actively involving the child and their parents/carers.

Outstanding

Our rating<sup>8</sup> for planning is based on the following key questions:

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number of relevant cases	Number 'Yes'
Does planning focus sufficiently on supporting the child's desistance?	4	4
Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping the child safe? <sup>9</sup>	4	4
Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping other people safe? <sup>10</sup>	3	3

0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping the child safe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping other people safe.

The planning in all cases inspected was sufficient for desistance, safety and wellbeing, and risk of harm to others, and is therefore assessed as 'Outstanding'.

### Does planning focus on supporting the child's desistance?

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does planning set out the services most likely to support desistance, paying sufficient attention to the available timescales and the need for sequencing?	4
Does planning take sufficient account of the diversity and wider familial and social context of the child?	4
Does planning take sufficient account of the child's strengths and protective factors, and seek to reinforce or develop these as necessary?	4
Does planning take sufficient account of the child's levels of maturity, ability and motivation to change, and seek to develop these as necessary?	4
Where applicable, does planning give sufficient attention to the needs and wishes of the victim/s?	4
Is the child and their parents/carers meaningfully involved in planning, and are their views taken into account?	4

### Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping the child safe?

Of the 4 cases with factors related to keeping the child safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does planning promote the safety and wellbeing of the child, sufficiently addressing risks?	4
Does planning involve other agencies where appropriate, and is there sufficient alignment with other plans (for example, child protection or care plans) concerning the child?	4
Does planning set out the necessary controls and interventions to promote the safety and wellbeing of the child?	4
Does planning set out necessary and effective contingency arrangements to manage those risks that have been identified?	4

### Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping other people safe?

Of the 3 cases with factors related to keeping other people safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does planning promote the safety of other people, sufficiently addressing risk of harm factors?	3
Does planning involve other agencies where appropriate?	3
Does planning address any specific concerns and risks related to actual and potential victims?	3

Does planning set out the necessary controls and interventions to promote the safety of other people?	3
Does planning set out necessary and effective contingency arrangements to manage those risks that have been identified?	3

In all the cases inspected, there was enough planning to support desistance work and there was a good level of involvement of the child and their parent or carer in the planning process. All cases were assessed as sufficient in respect of keeping the child safe and keeping other people safe. Planning focused appropriately on the factors highlighted in the initial assessment and there was cross-referencing to plans held by other agencies, as well as involvement from other professionals in the planning process. We were pleased to see a good example of planning for a vulnerable young person who was due to be released from custody. There was a coordinated partnership approach that supported effective planning for his resettlement, including good contingency arrangements.

### 2.3. Implementation and delivery



High-quality, well-focused, personalised and coordinated services are delivered, engaging and assisting the child.

Outstanding

Our rating<sup>11</sup> for implementation and delivery is based on the following key questions:

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number of relevant cases	Number 'Yes'
Does the implementation and delivery of services effectively support the child's desistance?	4	4
Does the implementation and delivery of services effectively support the safety of the child? <sup>12</sup>	4	4
Does the implementation and delivery of services effectively support the safety of other people? <sup>13</sup>	3	3

In every case, the implementation and delivery of services supported desistance, the safety of the child and the risk of harm to others. The consistent delivery of highquality services resulted in our rating of outstanding.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping the child safe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping other people safe.

# Does the implementation and delivery of services effectively support the child's desistance?

Of the 4 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Are the delivered services those most likely to support desistance, with sufficient attention given to sequencing and the available timescales?	4
Does service delivery reflect the diversity and wider familial and social context of the child, involving parents/carers or significant others?	4
Does service delivery build upon the child's strengths and enhance protective factors?	4
Is sufficient focus given to developing and maintaining an effective working relationship with the child and their parents/carers?	4
Does service delivery promote opportunities for community integration including access to services post-supervision?	4
Is sufficient attention given to encouraging and enabling the child's compliance with the work of the YOT?	4
In cases where it is required, are enforcement actions taken when appropriate?	0

# Does the implementation and delivery of services effectively support the safety of the child?

Of the 4 cases with factors related to keeping the child safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does service delivery promote the safety and wellbeing of the child?	4
Where applicable, is the involvement of other organisations in keeping the child safe sufficiently well-coordinated?	4

# Does the implementation and delivery of services effectively support the safety of other people?

Of the 3 cases with factors related to keeping other people safe:	Number 'Yes'
Are the delivered services sufficient to manage and minimise the risk of harm?	3
Where applicable, is sufficient attention given to the protection of actual and potential victims?	3
Where applicable, is the involvement of other agencies in managing the risk of harm sufficiently well-coordinated?	3

Inspectors were impressed with the skill and commitment that case managers demonstrated in delivering services and interventions to children and families. The

individual needs of the child were consistently considered, and positive engagement was promoted and supported. In every case, there was a clear focus on encouraging the involvement of parents or carers. In one case, discussion with the child and his family about his concerns regarding education meant that the right college placement was found. He has sustained his attendance with support from the YOT and his mother, and he is on track to receive a qualification which will secure him employment in a family member's business.

We saw good examples of YOT staff maintaining contact with young people and their families during lockdown. Outdoor sessions had been held where possible, and telephone meetings had taken place when it was not. Tasks were set and followed up, and social media was used appropriately for educational purposes. A referral order panel member told us that a panel meeting had been held outdoors, to make sure that there were no delays to young people starting their interventions and getting the support they needed.

In most cases, effective partnership working supported and enhanced the quality of work delivered to support desistance, safety and wellbeing, and the management of risk posed to other people.

### 2.4. Reviewing



Reviewing of progress is well-informed, analytical and personalised, actively involving the child and their parents/carers.

Outstanding

Our rating<sup>14</sup> for reviewing is based on the following key questions:

Of the 4 cases inspected:15	Number of relevant cases	Number 'Yes'
Does reviewing focus sufficiently on supporting the child's desistance?	3	3
Does reviewing focus sufficiently on keeping the child safe?	4	4
Does reviewing focus sufficiently on keeping other people safe?	3	3

In every case, where changes had been identified, reviewing focused sufficiently on the progress of the child, in terms of desistance. Similarly, case managers reviewed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> We only expect to see evidence of reviewing, in cases where there have been changes in factors related to desistance, keeping the child safe and/or keeping other people safe.

the impact that interventions were having on keeping the child and the public safe, and work plans were adjusted appropriately in response to changing circumstances. Overall, reviewing was assessed as 'Outstanding'.

### Does reviewing focus sufficiently on supporting the child's desistance?

Of the 3 cases where there were changes in factors related to desistance:	Number 'Yes'
Does reviewing identify and respond to changes in factors linked to desistance?	3
Does reviewing focus sufficiently on building upon the child's strengths and enhancing protective factors?	3
Does reviewing consider motivation and engagement levels and any relevant barriers?	3
Is the child and their parents/carers meaningfully involved in reviewing their progress and engagement, and are their views taken into account?	3

### Does reviewing focus sufficiently on keeping the child safe?

Of the 4 cases where there were changes in factors related to keeping the child safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does reviewing identify and respond to changes in factors related to safety and wellbeing?	4
Where applicable, is reviewing informed by the necessary input from other agencies involved in promoting the safety and wellbeing of the child?	4
Where applicable, does reviewing lead to the necessary adjustments in the ongoing plan of work to promote the safety and wellbeing of the child?	4

### Does reviewing focus sufficiently on keeping other people safe?

Of the 3 cases where there were changes in factors related to keeping other people safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does reviewing identify and respond to changes in factors related to risk of harm?	3
Where applicable, is reviewing informed by the necessary input from other agencies involved in managing the risk of harm?	3
Is the child and their parents/carers meaningfully involved in reviewing their risk of harm, and are their views taken into account?	3

We rated the work on reviewing cases as 'Outstanding'. In all the cases we inspected, there was sufficient review of desistance factors, issues concerning the wellbeing of the child, and risk of harm to others.

Reviewing was an ongoing process in most cases, and it involved the children and their parents and carers. Effective inter-agency working meant that reviewing was an on-going process. Swift information sharing between partner agencies helped practitioners to be responsive to any change in the circumstances of children. When things changed, they did not remain fixed on delivering the original plan of work, and there was a clear focus on meeting the shifting needs of children.

In one case where there were serious concerns about a child's safety, the YOT worked with other agencies to monitor their family circumstances, associates, and changes in compliance and engagement. The risk was reviewed at social care meetings and risk management meetings. When intelligence suggested that the child had been associating with a concerning peer group and potentially engaging in further criminal activity, this was shared with the family, partnership agencies and with the child. The coordinated and transparent approach to reviewing concerns supported the safety of the child.

### 3. Out-of-court disposals

We inspected three cases managed by the YOT that had received an out-of-court disposal. These consisted of two youth conditional cautions and one community resolution. We interviewed the case managers in all three cases.

We examined the quality of assessment; planning; and implementation and delivery of services. Each of these elements was inspected in respect of work done to address desistance. For the one case where there were factors related to harm, we also inspected work done to keep other people safe. In the two cases where safety and wellbeing concerns were identified, we looked at work done to safeguard the child. We also looked at the quality of joint working with local police.

### Strengths:

- Assessment and planning of desistance were good.
- Assessments considered the diversity and social context of the child.
- Planning took sufficient account of the child's strengths and protective factors.
- Attention was given to encouraging and enabling the child's compliance with the work of the YOT.
- The YOT worked effectively with the police in implementing youth conditional cautions.

### **Areas for improvement:**

- Assessments of how to keep the child and other people safe were inadequate.
- Planning did not focus sufficiently on keeping the child or other people
- There was no assessment of the child completed prior to the out-of-court disposal decision being made, so recommendations were not sufficiently well informed and personalised to the child.
- Recommendations did not routinely consider the degree of the child's understanding of the offence and their acknowledgement of responsibility.
- Implementation and delivery were inadequate across all three areas of practice.
- The rationale for joint disposal decisions was not clearly recorded.

Work with children receiving out-of-court disposals will be more effective if it is well targeted, planned and implemented. In our inspections, we look at a sample of cases. In each of those cases, we inspect against four standards.

#### 3.1. Assessment



Assessment is well-informed, analytical and personalised, actively involving the child and their parents/carers.

Inadequate

Our rating<sup>16</sup> for assessment is based on the following key questions:

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to support the child's desistance?	2
Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep the child safe?	0
Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep other people safe?	1

In two of the three inspected cases, the assessment of desistance factors was sufficient. However, the assessment of risk of harm to others was adequate in just one case. The assessment of safety and wellbeing was lacking in all inspected cases, and it was this score that drove the overall rating of 'Inadequate' for assessment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

# Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to support the child's desistance?

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Is there sufficient analysis of offending behaviour, including the child's acknowledgement of responsibility, attitudes towards and motivations for their offending?	2
Does assessment consider the diversity and wider familial and social context of the child, utilising information held by other agencies?	2
Does assessment focus on the child's strengths and protective factors?	2
Where applicable, does assessment analyse the key structural barriers facing the child?	2
Is sufficient attention given to understanding the child's levels of maturity, ability and motivation to change?	2
Where applicable, does assessment give sufficient attention to the needs and wishes of the victim/s, and opportunities for restorative justice?	2
Is the child and their parents/carers meaningfully involved in their assessment, and are their views taken into account?	2

### Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep the child safe?

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does assessment clearly identify and analyse any risks to the safety and wellbeing of the child?	0
Does assessment draw sufficiently on available sources of information, including other assessments, and involve other agencies where appropriate?	1

### Does assessment sufficiently analyse how to keep other people safe?

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does assessment clearly identify and analyse any risk of harm to others posed by the child, including identifying who is at risk and the nature of that risk?	0
Does assessment draw sufficiently on available sources of information, including any other assessments that have been completed, and other evidence of behaviour by the child?	0

One of the three cases inspected was a community resolution, and as the YOT does not complete a structured assessment for these cases, it failed to meet our standards in all three areas of practice.

In the other cases, the assessment of desistance was the strongest area of practice. We saw good evidence that assessments considered the individual circumstances of children, and attention was paid to understanding their motivation for offending. In most cases, barriers to engagement were considered, and strengths and protective factors were identified.

We found that assessments of safety and wellbeing lacked depth and analysis, and evidence was not triangulated. Indicators of wider issues were not picked up, and there was not enough curiosity about underlying factors that may have had an impact on the child's behaviour. Assessments did not clearly identify and analyse risks to the safety and wellbeing of the child and did not routinely include information from other services.

Assessments did not analyse risk of harm to others and did not set out how any risk would be mitigated. We agreed with the assessed level of risk in the two cases where a risk level had been identified. However, overall, we found the assessment of risk of harm to be insufficient in all three cases. Not enough attention was paid to gathering information from all relevant sources, to understand and analyse any patterns of concerning behaviour.

#### 3.2. Planning



Planning is well-informed, analytical and personalised, actively involving the child and their parents/carers.

Inadequate

Our rating<sup>17</sup> for planning is based on the following key guestions:

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number of relevant cases	Number 'Yes'
Does planning focus on supporting the child's desistance?	3	2
Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping the child safe? <sup>18</sup>	2	0
Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping other people safe? <sup>19</sup>	1	0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping the child safe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping other people safe.

### Does planning focus on supporting the child's desistance?

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Does planning set out the services most likely to support desistance, paying sufficient attention to the available timescales and the need for sequencing?	2
Does planning take sufficient account of the diversity and wider familial and social context of the child?	1
Does planning take sufficient account of the child's strengths and protective factors, and seek to reinforce or develop these as necessary?	2
Does planning take sufficient account of the child's levels of maturity, ability and motivation to change, and seek to develop these as necessary?	2
Does planning take sufficient account of opportunities for community integration, including access to mainstream services following completion of out-of-court disposal work?	2
Where applicable, does planning give sufficient attention to the needs and wishes of the victim/s?	2
Is the child and their parents/carers meaningfully involved in planning, and are their views taken into account?	1

### Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping the child safe?

Of the 2 cases with factors relevant to keeping the child safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does planning promote the safety and wellbeing of the child, sufficiently addressing risks?	0
Where applicable, does planning involve other agencies where appropriate, and is there sufficient alignment with other plans (for example, child protection or care plans) concerning the child?	0
Does planning include necessary contingency arrangements for those risks that have been identified?	1

### Does planning focus sufficiently on keeping other people safe?

Of the 1 case with factors relevant to keeping other people safe:	Number 'Yes'
Does planning promote the safety of other people, sufficiently addressing risk of harm factors?	0
Where applicable, does planning involve other agencies where appropriate?	0

Where applicable, does planning address any specific concerns and risks related to actual and potential victims?	0
Does planning include necessary contingency arrangements for those risks that have been identified?	o

There was no intervention plan completed for the community resolution case, which meant that there was a lack of focus about the intervention that was to be delivered. For the two youth conditional caution cases, planning appropriately set out and sequenced the interventions.

Insufficiencies in the assessment of risk to the safety and wellbeing of the child were reflected in a limited level of planning to promote safety. Where other agencies were included within the plan the information shared was limited. For example, in one case where there were concerns about mental health, a referral was made appropriately to CAMHS, although as the child's anxiety was linked to pending exams, we would have expected to see their school included, but this did not happen.

Victim issues were considered in both of the cases where this was required, and victim awareness work was included in the plan. However, in the one case where risk of harm issues were identified, planning to manage the potential risk of harm to others was insufficient. In this case, the lack of analysis in the assessment meant that the plan did not target some of the underlying factors affecting the child's thinking and behaviour that were linked to a risk of harm to others.

### 3.3. Implementation and delivery



High-quality, well-focused, personalised and coordinated services are delivered, engaging and assisting the child.

Inadequate

Our rating<sup>20</sup> for implementation and delivery is based on the following key questions:

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number of relevant cases	Number 'Yes'
Does service delivery effectively support the child's desistance?	3	0
Does service delivery effectively support the safety of the child? <sup>21</sup>	2	0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping the child safe.

Does service delivery effectively support the safety of	1	0
other people? <sup>22</sup>	1	U

### Does service delivery effectively support the child's desistance?

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Are the delivered services those most likely to support desistance, with sufficient attention given to sequencing and the available timescales?	0
Does service delivery reflect the diversity and wider familial and social context of the child, involving parents/carers or significant others?	1
Is sufficient focus given to developing and maintaining an effective working relationship with the child and their parents/carers?	1
Is sufficient attention given to encouraging and enabling the child's compliance with the work of the YOT?	2
Does service delivery promote opportunities for community integration, including access to mainstream services?	2

### Does service delivery effectively support the safety of the child?

Of the 2 cases with factors related to the safety of the child:	Number 'Yes'
Does service delivery promote the safety and wellbeing of the child?	0
Where applicable, is the involvement of other agencies in keeping the child safe sufficiently well utilised and coordinated?	0

### Does service delivery effectively support the safety of other people?

Of the 1 case with factors related to the safety of other people:	Number 'Yes'
Where applicable, is sufficient attention given to the protection of actual and potential victims?	0
Are the delivered services sufficient to manage and minimise the risk of harm?	0

We were disappointed to find that the delivery of interventions fell below our standards in all cases, across all three areas of practice. In one case, a SALT assessment had been completed and, despite issues being identified, information was not used to guide the delivery of interventions. Interventions lacked coordination, and referrals and actions were not always followed up. In one case,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This question is only relevant in cases where there are factors related to keeping other people safe.

this meant that there was a three-month delay in making a CAMHS referral, despite there being concerns about possible self-harm.

interventions were not personalised to meet the child's needs. In the community resolution case, the intervention was limited to a discussion with the child's mother and a request that the child complete a letter of apology to the victim.

### 3.4. Joint working



Joint working with the police supports the delivery of high-quality, personalised and coordinated services.

Inadequate

Our rating<sup>23</sup> for joint working is based on the following key questions:

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number of relevant cases	Number 'Yes'
Are the YOT's recommendations sufficiently well-informed, analytical and personalised to the child, supporting joint decision making?	3	1
Does the YOT work effectively with the police in implementing the out-of-court disposal? <sup>24</sup>	2	2

### Are the YOT's recommendations sufficiently well informed, analytical and personalised to the child, supporting joint decision-making?

Of the 3 cases inspected:	Number 'Yes'
Where applicable, are the recommendations by the YOT for out- of-court disposal outcomes, conditions and interventions appropriate and proportionate?	2
Do the recommendations consider the degree of the child's understanding of the offence and their acknowledgement of responsibility?	1
Where applicable, is a positive contribution made by the YOT to determining the disposal?	2
Is sufficient attention given to the child's understanding, and their parents'/carers' understanding, of the implications of receiving an out-of-court disposal?	2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The rating for the standard is driven by the lowest score on each of the key questions, which is placed in a rating band. See Annexe 1 for a more detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> This question is only relevant in youth conditional caution cases.

Is the information provided to inform decision-making timely to meet the needs of the case, legislation and guidance?	3
Where applicable, is the rationale for joint disposal decisions appropriate and clearly recorded?	0

#### Does the YOT work effectively with the police in implementing the out-ofcourt disposal?

Of the 2 cases with youth conditional cautions:	Number 'Yes'
Where applicable, does the YOT inform the police of progress and outcomes in a sufficient and timely manner?	1
Is sufficient attention given to compliance with and enforcement of the conditions?	2

The cases we inspected were one community resolution and two youth conditional cautions. Currently youth cautions are not considered at the joint decision-making panel.

The process for out-of-court disposals does not involve the YOT meeting the child and their parents or carers prior to the disposal decision being made. This meant that recommendations did not always consider the child's understanding of the offence or their attitude towards it. We found the YOT's recommendations sufficiently well informed, analytical and personalised to the child in only one of the three cases we inspected .

The information provided by other agencies at the decision-making panel was helpful in assisting the understanding of the child's contact with other services. However, in cases where the child had not been involved with other services, and in the absence of any meeting with them and their parents or carers, there was very little information available to support decision-making.

We found little evidence that the implications of accepting an out-of-court disposal had been discussed with the children and their parents or carers. Staff and managers assumed that these individuals would have been spoken to by the officer in charge of the case at the point of initial police interview. However, the YOT needs to confirm this, to make sure that families are clear about the processes and their implications.

The rationale for decision-making was not clearly recorded in any of the cases we inspected.

#### **HM Inspectorate of Probation standards**

The standards against which we inspect youth offending services are based on established models and frameworks, which are grounded in evidence, learning and experience. These standards are designed to drive improvements in the quality of work with children who have offended.<sup>25</sup>

The inspection methodology is summarised below, linked to the three domains in our standards framework. We focused on obtaining evidence against the standards, key questions and prompts in our inspection framework. It is important that all youth offending services, regardless of size, are inspected to highlight good practice and to identify areas for improvement. Of course, some YOTs have very small caseloads and so any percentages or figures quoted in these reports need to be read with care. However, all domain two samples, even for the smallest YOTs, meet an 80 per cent confidence level, and in some of the smaller YOTs inspectors may be assessing most or all of that service's cases.

#### **Domain one: organisational delivery**

- The youth offending service submitted evidence in advance and the Chief Executive and Director for Children's Services delivered a presentation covering the following areas:
- How do organisational delivery arrangements in this area make sure that the work of your youth offending service is as effective as it can be, and that the life chances of children who have offended are improved?
- What are your priorities for further improving these arrangements?

During the main fieldwork phase, we conducted seven interviews with case managers, asking them about their experiences of training, development, management supervision and leadership. We held various meetings, which allowed us to triangulate evidence and information. In total, we conducted 10 meetings, which included meetings with managers, partner organisations and staff. The evidence collected under this domain was judged against our published ratings characteristics.26

#### **Domain two: court disposals**

We completed case assessments over a one-week period, examining case files and interviewing case managers. Four of the cases selected were those of children who had received court disposals nine to 11 months earlier, enabling us to examine work in relation to assessing, planning, implementing and reviewing. Where necessary, interviews with other people closely involved in the case also took place.

We examined four court disposals. The sample size was set to achieve a confidence level of 80 per cent (with a margin of error of 5), and where possible we ensured that the ratios in relation to gender, sentence or disposal type, risk of serious harm,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> HM Inspectorate's standards are available here: https://www.iusticeinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/about-our-work/our-standards-and-ratings/

and risk to safety and wellbeing classifications matched those in the eligible population.

#### **Domain three: out-of-court disposals**

We completed case assessments over a one-week period, examining case files and interviewing case managers. Three of the cases selected were those of children who had received out-of-court disposals seven months earlier. This enabled us to examine work in relation to assessing, planning, implementing and joint working. Where necessary, interviews with other people closely involved in the case also took place.

We examined three out-of-court disposals. The sample size was set so that the combined case sample size comprises 60 per cent domain two cases and 40 per cent domain three. Where possible, we ensured the ratios in relation to gender, sentence or disposal type, risk of serious harm, and risk to safety and wellbeing classifications matched those in the eligible population.

In some areas of this report, data may have been split into smaller sub-samples – for example, male/female cases. Where this is the case, the margin of error for the sub-sample findings may be higher than five.

#### **Ratings explained**

Domain one ratings are proposed by the lead inspector for each standard. They will be a single judgement, using all the relevant sources of evidence. More detailed information can be found in the probation inspection domain one rules and guidance on the website.

In this inspection, we conducted a detailed examination of a sample of four court disposals and three out-of-court disposals. In each of those cases, we inspect against four standards: assessment, planning, and implementation/delivery. For court disposals, we look at reviewing; and in out-of-court disposals, we look at joint working with the police. For each standard, inspectors answer a number of key questions about different aspects of quality, including whether there was sufficient analysis of the factors related to offending; the extent to which children were involved in assessment and planning; and whether enough was done to assess and manage the safety and well-being of the child, and any risk of harm posed to others.

For each standard, the rating is aligned to the lowest banding at the key question level, recognising that each key question is an integral part of the standard.

Lowest banding (key question level)	Rating (standard)			
Minority: <50%	Inadequate			
Too few: 50-64%	Requires improvement			
Reasonable majority: 65-79%	Good			
Large majority: 80%+	Outstanding 🖈			

We use case sub-samples for some of the key questions in domains two and three. For example, when judging whether planning focused sufficiently on keeping other people safe, we exclude those cases where the inspector deemed the risk of serious harm to be low. This approach is justified on the basis that we focus on those cases where we expect meaningful work to take place.

An element of professional discretion may be applied to the standards ratings in domains two and three. The ratings panel considers whether professional discretion should be exercised when the lowest percentage at the key question level is close to the rating boundary – for example, between 'Requires improvement' and 'Good' (specifically, within five percentage points of the boundary; or where a differing judgement in one case would result in a change in rating; or where the rating is based upon a sample or sub-sample of five cases or fewer). The panel considers the sizes of any sub-samples used and the percentages for the other key questions within that standard, such as whether they fall within different bandings and the level of divergence, to make this decision.

#### Overall provider rating

Straightforward scoring rules are used to generate the overall provider rating. Each of the 10 standards will be scored on a 0-3 scale, as listed in the following table.

Score	Rating (standard)
0	Inadequate
1	Requires improvement
2	Good
3	Outstanding 🖈

Adding the scores for each standard together produces the overall rating on a 0-30 scale, as listed in the following table.

Score	Rating (overall)
0-6	Inadequate
7-18	Requires improvement
19-30	Good
31-36	Outstanding 🛣

We do not include any weightings in the scoring rules. The rationale for this is that all parts of the standards framework are strongly linked to effective service delivery and positive outcomes, and we have restricted ourselves to those that are most essential. Our view is that providers need to focus across all the standards, and we do not want to distort behaviours in any undesirable ways. Furthermore, the underpinning evidence supports including all standards/key questions in the rating, rather than weighting individual elements.



HM Inspectorate of Probation 1 Bridge Street West Civil Justice Centre Manchester M3 3FX

ISBN: xxx-xxx-xxx

### Template for response to factual accuracy check

Page/Para No.	Factual inaccuracy identified	HMI Probation response
Page 4. Para 6.	As the management of court disposals have been described as 'outstanding', we feel the third line on Domain 2 should instead read:	
	YOT case managers demonstrated great skill in establishing <b>exceptional</b> working relationships with children.	
Page 8. Para 5.	The YOT has a dedicated <b>Education Worker</b> and we feel she should receive a mention here.	
Page 9. Para 2.	We feel the second to last sentence needs to recognise that the changes in management have had a positive impact.	
	the last Ofsted monitoring visit recognised an improved focus on addressing the inadequacies in practice <b>and this is having a positive impact.</b>	
Page 15. Para 2.	We feel the description of exploitation manager's experience is unfair. He was asked to cover due to his present exploitation lead role but also his previous extensive experience in youth work.	
	Brian Mason has vast experience in youth exploitation, which is a crime-based role. He has also been working in youth services for 30 years.	
Page 37. Para 3.	Under Doman One, it is stated that the Chief Executive and Director for Children's Services delivered a presentation. It was the Director of Children's Services and the <b>YOT</b> Manager.	

## DRAFT - YOT Improvement Plan for OOCD's Assessment, Decision Making and Processes (embargoed until 1 March 2021)

(cinoal Soca antili 1 March 2021)									
Improvement Action	How	Who	Resources Required	Date for review	Date for completion of action	Outcome	Comments re Progress	RAG RATING	
Establish Working Group on OOCD Processes	Set up week of 01/02/2020	Staff group and Managers	Staff	Progress review April 2021.	July 2021	Involvement of staff team in the implementation of the improvement plan			
All young people on OOCD to be assessed/screened pre recommendation. Start date 29/01/2020	All 370's recommending Com Res, simple Caution, and Conditional Caution to be allocated to case worker who completes OOCD assessment. Assessment to be completed within 10 working days and returned to manager to inform decision at Panel.	Op's manager to allocate to case worker within 24 hour hours of receiving 370	Assessment tool	Progress review April 2021. Review tool and adapt	July 2021	-All young people and their families' voices will be heardRobust decision making around OCCD recommendations - Robust assessment of Risk and Safety and wellbeing.			
Implement Review of each OCCD intervention	Review at end of intervention	Op's Manager To record review outcome on CV. (Level of QA?)	Assessment tool review section			Opportunity to reflect on impact of intervention/improvement /needs of young person met.			
Asset Plus to be completed on all High risk OCCD assessments	On completion of OOCD Assessment and recommendation from Manager	Case worker	Asset Plus	Progress review April 2021.	July 2021	Ensure there is clear risk management plan in place for High risk OCCD case work		Append	
All victims to be contacted prior to panel.	All victims to be contacted and views obtained – face to face appointments to be arranged at point of contact.	Ops manager to allocate to Victim Worker within 24	Victim assessment tool	Progress review April 2021.	July 2021	Provision of more robust intervention and support for victims.		enda Ite bendix 2	

တ

# DRAFT - YOT Improvement Plan for OOCD's Assessment, Decision Making and Processes (embargoed until 1 March 2021)

(cimal good with 1 march 2011)								
	Victim Risk assessment to be completed	hours of receiving 370		Review tool and adapt				
OOCD Membership to be reviewed	Consideration to whether individual Social workers are invited rather than Team Manager to represent all cases	Op's manager/YOT management decision.	Social worker time	February 2021	July 2021	Social Worker will have input into decision making process around their YP. Improvement in Multi-agency working.		
OCCD Panel decision to be Recorded on CV contacts and rational for decision	Standardised recording of panel decision on CV and rational	Op's manager	OOCD Manager report	Progress review April 2021.	July 2021	Clear recording of rational for decision		
Post Panel Planning Meeting – Robust OCOPPlan around child	Needs further discussion – separate meeting or part of the panel?	Op's manager			July 2021			
Improve recording and tracking of data re OOCD and report to the board.		Data Analyst				Reduction in FTE		
Improve recording/tracking of CR outcomes		Data Analyst				Reduction in FTE		
Young People to design "What is YOT about leaflet"					July 2021	YP inclusion in service development and increased engagement		

Agenda Item 9 Appendix 3



# Youth Offending Service Remote Peer Review

**Torbay Council** 

October 2020

Feedback Report

#### 1. **Executive Summary**

The Director of Children's Services (DCS) has recognised the need to strengthen governance arrangements and, along with the Youth Offending Team (YOT) Management Board members, wishes to increase the Board's effectiveness and impact. The representation of partners on the Board has recently been widened. The changed relationship with the Pan -Devon YOT Board and ending of the joint Children's Safeguarding Partnership Board provides a good opportunity to do this. This peer review was commissioned to assist Torbay's efforts to strengthen the governance and leadership of the Youth Offending Service (YOS).

The findings of this peer review need to be set in the context of the Covid-19 pandemic which has required the Council and its partners to quickly adopt new ways of working affecting all staff and service users. In addition, Children's services improvement (following an Inadequate inspection assessment in 2016 and again in 2018) has required significant leadership and senior management focus. However, there is now recognition that progress is being made in this wider improvement work. The Council has restructured the education and children's social care services and intends to review the YOT as the next stage in this modernisation of children's services.

The YOT Management Board is not as effective as it needs to be – its profile across partners, other relevant Boards and with staff is low. With some exceptions it does not drive action or effectively challenge partners and there is little awareness or buy-in to the 2019-20 Youth Justice Plan (or its successor Covid-19 recovery plan) and the priorities it contains. There is a gap in strategic direction which is not being provided by a Pan-Devon Board as originally intended.

Governance arrangements can be strengthened reasonably quickly through a smaller strategic board with senior partner representation, clear terms of reference and some organisational leadership and discipline. Some key priorities should be agreed and shared with partners and the wider service, and reinforced through the new Youth Justice Plan now in development. The Executive Member will certainly bring enthusiasm and ambition for improvement to the YOT Management Board which she has recently joined.

The key challenge will be in agreeing a clear vision for modernising the operation of the YOT, including a possible review of the use of specialist workers to ensure Torbay is fully utilising their skills and experience. Securing more effective YOT management and leadership will be vital, leadership which is willing and capable of sustaining the positive team culture and further strengthening of practice. This development of practice in the YOT should include embedding the restorative practice model further, for example within Asset Plus, placing victim's views and wishes at the centre of interventions and prioritising desistance led interventions in order to reduce re-offending.

Improved, two-way communication is needed to ensure continuing confidence in the leadership of the service. As a priority, the rationale for the closure of Parkfield YOT base in response to the Covid-19 pandemic and plans for effective, alternative arrangements for working with children and young people need to be better

communicated and understood. (As a virtual peer review the team are unable to form a view on the suitability of the Parkfield building, but the strength of staff and some partner's feelings on this issue is evident).

Clarifying the remit, role, oversight and leadership expected of the Head of Service will be important, given the other significant responsibilities attached to this role. Consideration should be given to establishing a dedicated YOT Manager post to provide specialised management and strategic planning for the service, work at strategic level with key partners, and to support the YOT Board. This post could continue to report to a Head of Service role. It may be possible to fund a YOT Manager post through a review of current structures and ways of working within existing budgets or as part of further efficiency measures which may be anticipated in the face of growing pressure on local authority budgets in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Torbay has a number of strengths on which to build in responding to these challenges. These include experienced and committed practitioners in the YOT who have a real focus on achieving better outcomes for the children and young people they work with; a well resourced team with reasonable caseloads; and an improving picture of joint working with children's social care and good partnership working at an operational level. There is now better awareness and shared approaches to case management of children known to other areas of the service and in relation to both criminal and sexual exploitation (although work in response to criminal exploitation is less advanced). The preparation of pre-sentence reports and presentation by officers is well regarded by the Magistrates courts.

These foundations for the service are underpinned by improving wider children's social care services following Inadequate judgements over several years, informed political support from the lead member and strong leadership from the DCS. Commissioning external challenge via this peer review demonstrates Torbay's commitment to strengthening the governance, leadership and performance of the YOT. Torbay Council and its partners on the YOT Management Board will wish to consider the findings of this peer review alongside the outcome of the YOS inspection scheduled for late October in moving the service forward.

#### 2. Key recommendations

The following are the main recommendations of the peer review. There are further suggestions for improvement contained in the body of the report.

- a) Re-establish the YOT Management Board as a smaller, strategic Board with more senior, consistent partner representation with clear terms of reference to reflect that strategic role and better links to other relevant Boards for children's services.
- b) Agree the key priorities for the service and share with partners and clearly communicate to the wider service.
- c) Clarify the remit, role, leadership and management oversight of high risk cases expected of the Head of Service role.
- d) Consider the establishment of a dedicated YOT Manager post.
- e) Review the current structure of the YOT, including consideration of the YOT manager post (as per recommendation d) above), and to ensure the best use is made of existing resources including case officers and specialist workers.
- f) Clearly communicate the future vision for the service, including plans for the Parkfield building and alternative arrangements for working with children and young people.
- g) Strengthen engagement and ensure that effective two-way communication is in place between the Board, senior management and the YOT team.
- h) Increase the proactive use of performance information and insight to challenge and improve the service, by both the Board and YOT managers, drawing on data from a wider range of partners including additional children's services performance information relevant to the YOT cohort.
- Further training for staff should be commissioned to ensure the AssetPlus
  assessment tool is used to its full potential in undertaking assessments, recording
  case information and identifying and managing risk and to underpin the quality and
  consistency of assessments.
- j) Further enhance and embed restorative practice approaches and develop a better understanding and use of desistance factors to tackle re-offending and review the Out of Court Disposal process to ensure its continuing effectiveness.

#### 3. Summary of the Remote Peer Challenge approach

As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the social distancing restrictions this has given rise to, this peer review, like other LGA reviews at this time, was undertaken remotely with both interviews and the case records review taking place off-site with meetings conducted virtually via MS Teams.

#### 3.1 The peer team

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced peers. The make-up of the peer team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer challenge. Peers were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and expertise and agreed with you. The peers who delivered the peer challenge for Torbay were:

- Kevin Hall, independent consultant (former Director of Children, Families & Schools, East Riding of Yorkshire Council)
- Heather Pearson, independent consultant (former Police officer leading safeguarding work and current Safeguarding Unit Manager, North Yorkshire CC)
- Sam Matthews, Youth Offending Service Manager, East Riding of Yorkshire Council
- David Armin, LGA Peer Challenge Manager.

#### 3.2 Scope and focus

The following key lines of enquiry were agreed with Torbay City Council. The key focus was to be the governance and leadership of the service, including the Youth Justice Management Board, and the impact this has on the performance of the Youth Offending Service (YOS).

#### Leadership and vision

- Does the governance and leadership of the Torbay Youth Offending Team (YOT) support and promote the delivery of a high-quality, personalised and responsive service for all children and young people?
- Does the Torbay YOT Board have a clear vision that is well communicated and understood by board members, operational staff and wider partners?
- Is there evidence that Board Members are active participants in, and advocate for, the work of the Youth Justice Service in their primary role?
- Does the Board have a good understanding of the needs of young people known to the service?

#### Resources and capacity

- Does the Board support a learning culture where staff are supported and there are development opportunities?
- Does the Board have a clear understanding of budget and resources in the current financial year?

- Is there evidence that Board Members act upon Board priorities and the personalised needs of young people and that they deploy their organisational resources in doing so?
- How are Board Members assured that available resources are deployed against agreed priorities?

#### Effective practice and outcomes for young people

- Does the Board ensure that interventions are outcome focused, address desistance factors and effectively manage risk?
- Does the Board have a clear understanding of its impact, including evidence of robust challenge based on both qualitative and quantitative data?
- Is there evidence that the views and experiences of young people are consistently used to inform planning and the future direction of services?

#### 3.3 The peer review process

The fundamental aim of each peer review is to help councils and their partners reflect on and improve the impact of services to children and young people. It is important to remember that a peer challenge is not an inspection, rather it provides a critical friend to challenge the council and their partners in assessing their strengths and identifying their own areas for improvement. The main elements of the peer review were:

- A review of data and key documentation
- A review of case records the LGA Peer Team reviewed ten assessments and case histories in detail, these cases were selected by the peer team from the cases currently open to the YOT to reflect the range of cases and different methods of disposal. The cases were reviewed during w/c 21st September, on the basis of a copy of the Asset Plus record and extracts from case notes. The reviewers also had virtual interviews with six practitioners about these cases. The findings of the case review have been reported separately to Torbay, given the potentially confidential information this contains, but the main messages from the case review are reflected in this report.
- Virtual interviews over two days (6<sup>th</sup> and 13<sup>th</sup> October 2020) including individual interviews and focus groups. The peer team met with the lead member and senior officers from the council and other statutory children's safeguarding partners (viz. the police and health); other members of the YOT Management Board including the courts and probation service; YOT staff and managers

The documentary evidence provided to the peer team was used to guide its focus in assisting you with your on-going improvement. The case records review helped to inform the peer team's findings in relation to frontline practice.

By its nature, the peer review is a snapshot in time. We appreciate that some of the feedback may be about things you are already addressing and progressing. The peer team would like to thank colleagues in Torbay for their assistance in planning and delivering the peer challenge, and for their engagement and openness during the process.

#### 4. Feedback

#### 4.1 Leadership and vision

Senior leaders, including the DCS, recognise the need to strengthen governance and the effectiveness of the YOT Management Board. Some actions to address this are already underway, including the recent widening of YOT Management Board membership to include the Cabinet member for Children's Services and Magistrates Courts representative to more fully reflect key stakeholders. The lead member is passionate and ambitious about better outcomes for children and young people. The impact of Children's Services leadership on the increasing pace and progress in improvements to wider children's social care services is now being recognised. However, the necessary focus on children's services improvement following the Inadequate judgement may well have reduced the attention given to the YOT.

A number of Management Board members felt that it was engaged and took ownership of the self-assessment process in early 2020, but progress in action planning was overtaken by the necessary focus on responding to the Covid-19 crisis. The regular reporting and presentation of performance information to the Board is regarded as valuable and has enabled it to focus on the three key Pls it has identified (drawn from those used by the YJB nationally) - first time entrants to the justice system (FTEs); reoffending rates and the use of custody. In Torbay FTEs compare unfavourably to regional and national rates. A key priority for the Board is a reduction in FTEs to below the South West regional rate. Discussion at Board helped to bring about changes to enable more joint decision making between police and YOT to avoid criminalising young people. Wider use of the 370 process¹ has helped to bring together the YOT, police and other partners in the Out of Court Disposal panels (OOCDs).

Although its understanding of operational issues is seen as a strength by Board members, the YOT Management Board is not strategic and needs consistent and more senior representation across all partners. It was originally envisaged that the Pan-Devon YOT Board would provide that strategic oversight but in practice this has not happened. Separation of Torbay from Pan-Devon arrangements and Joint Children's Partnership with Plymouth provides the opportunity to focus on local issues and re-boot governance arrangements. This should be used to develop a strong framework that links the YOT Board with the Children's Board and the Community Safety and Safeguarding partnerships in Torbay.

Attendance of Board members at Board meetings has been patchy and inconsistent in recent years. There has been insufficient challenge at the Board to hold partners to account for service delivery, or clear evidence of action when such challenge does take place. The Board does not proactively manage performance or drive improvement (with some exceptions such as the focus on FTEs noted above). The data analyst in the YOS largely determines the format and focus of performance reporting. This is appreciated by Board members but their greater engagement in the focus of performance reporting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The process whereby decisions are made in partnership on how to proceed against a juvenile offender – ie. through the criminal justice system (caution etc.) or other means of disposal, based on the use of Form 370

and provision and analysis of data by other partners in addition to the Council would enhance the ownership of performance management across the partnership.

There is very limited awareness of the YOT Management Board or 'buy-in' to the Youth Justice Plan 2019-20 and its priorities among staff in the YOT and other partners. Staff have little engagement with or understanding of the role of the Board and would value more involvement and the opportunity to showcase their work.

The Council's Head of Service has a wide range of responsibilities with limited capacity to drive forward innovative practice within the YOT. The peer team understands that this has been a part time role since 2017, reflecting the relatively small size and caseload of the YOT in Torbay. There have been several post holders over that period. The current postholder has been the Head MASH / Early Help. When he moved to become Head of Regulated Services he retained responsibility for the YOT to provide continuity in management responsibility.

Many staff believe that senior managers are not visible in the service and that communication and oversight is limited. Some staff feel that there is little knowledge or understanding of the work of the YOT which may be giving rise to mistrust and a sense of being undervalued. Many staff raised issues regarding the decision to close the Parkfield building – that closure was driven by COVID restrictions and a direction to all council staff to work at home wherever possible. However, staff (and some Board Members) remain anxious and concerned about alternative arrangements now and into the future and how these have been communicated. Staff feel that arrangements to meet with young people in the current circumstances are not always effective for strong engagement.

Partners and staff feel that management arrangements for the YOT need to be clarified and strengthened. There is a need for a dedicated service manager with youth justice experience to lead and advocate for the service, and challenge the decisions of other services, and partners, where necessary. There are two team manager posts in the YOS, but these posts have an operational and team leadership focus. The Service Manager for Children's Services 'front door' (the MASH etc.) has been brought in to provide support and capacity to the Head of Service, but the purpose, extent, line management and ways of working for this arrangement remain unclear to some.

One person summarised these issues describing a "perfect storm because safeguarding will always trump other management responsibilities and so there is no management capacity to innovate, and no challenge at the board".

#### 4.2 Resources and capacity

The YOT team is well resourced with manageable caseloads for case workers — typically six to seven cases per worker. This gives additional capacity for early intervention and prevention work. The sample of cases reviewed by the peer team included good examples of working with children on a voluntary basis. The service benefits from committed and widely experienced practitioners in both case worker and

various specialist roles. There are seconded staff from the police and probation and specialist CAMHS and Speech & Language Therapy workers. Discussion at the YOT Board has helped to sustain funding for these roles from health. The Data analyst post gives some capacity for greater insight of YOT client group and performance issues, but is shared with the Troubled Families team so good use needs to be made of this resource.

Staff have felt well supported by approachable Team Managers in the YOT. Good team working is evident across the YOT, including between case workers and specialists, through both case work and regular team meetings. Staff within the YOT have developed packages of support and resources to cover specific work with young people, for example to help tackle knife crime and One Punch Kills.

Staff described an extensive and relevant training programme, including external facilitation. There has been significant investment in training in the Trauma Recovery Model and the peer team could see evidence of this approach in practice. Training has also been provided in addressing harmful sexual behaviours. Joint training with the Magistrates courts is helping to foster good working relationships. Managers have recognised the need for refresher training to make better use of AssetPlus assessment tool for maintaining case records and supporting effective practice, and are now seeking to arrange this. The peer team's review of a sample of case records suggested that the system was not being used to its full potential in undertaking assessments and identifying and managing risk, or recording victim's views and wishes. Practitioners were able to talk in detail about individual cases although some of this information had not been captured in the assessment tool.

There are good partnerships at an operational level, including information and intelligence sharing with the police. Joint working with social care is improving, with frontline staff in the YOT and social care working hard to improve communications. This has been helped by a growing awareness and focus on both criminal and sexual exploitation and a developing understanding of the wider contextual safeguarding issues. However, staff report that there has not been child criminal or sexual exploitation training recently, despite the growing emphasis on this. Over the Covid-19 lockdown period, on-line training resources and webinars etc. have been made available to staff across Children's Services. The onus is on staff to access such resources. There may need to be more communication with YOT staff to ensure that they engage more with resources and support available across the Directorate. There is scope for further work and development with the police around exploitation, in terms of ensuring that young people are identified as victims early in the 370 process to prevent unnecessary criminalisation.

Notwithstanding the improvements in joint working driven by individuals across the services, there is still a sense of 'us and them' between the YOT and the remainder of Children's Services and a sense that some staff within the team would prefer to be seen as separate from the wider service, or at least with their own identity within that service. This was summed up by one person; "the team has been well regarded and left alone as the focus has been elsewhere and the reduction in management capacity over time has led to the isolation of the team – and they now don't really want to be included".

This may stem from the perception that the YOT is a generally well performing service, whereas Children's Services are grappling with the challenges arising from the Inadequate inspection judgement. Good joint working with social services is important, given the high proportion of the YOT cohort who are open to social care (and in particular about a quarter of the cohort are children looked after).

There is also a perception from some that the YOT team are "set in their ways" and "resistant to change" – for example the Covid enforced closure of the dedicated team office and other resources at Parkfield was simply seen as a loss, not an opportunity to develop new ways of working with young people and to move beyond 'business as usual'. However, staff see Parkfield as a valuable resource for working with young people in a safe and confidential environment and described having to meet young people in what they consider inappropriate settings in recent times, such as sitting on the kerbside or in courtyards next to rubbish bins. There is a strong belief among staff that the closure of Parkfield is detrimental to the service offered to young people, such as links with leaving care teams, kitchen and laundry facilities and the garden as a safe place to meet and visit. Managers advised that appropriate alternative facilities are being made available, but staff did not seem to be aware of this or convinced that they would be suitable. (As this was a virtual peer review the peer team were unable to visit Parkfield to form a view on its suitability or otherwise for such work, but is aware that there are a range of views on this matter).

These differences of view and perception may largely derive from limited and ineffective two way communication. There is a need for greater engagement between senior managers and staff in the YOT to build trust and in particular give greater clarity around future arrangements in respect of facilities to work with children, and the developing strategy across the Council around the future balance between office based and homeworking.

The Council and Management Board should ensure that the best use is made of the skills and experience of the specialist workers in the YOT, whilst avoiding duplication and possible gaps in risk assessment where several workers may be involved with a particular young person. In particular, it should consider if case holding by the seconded police officer in the YOT is the best use of this specialist resource, or should this be focused more towards collating intelligence, disruption work and cautions etc.

#### 4.3 Effective practice and outcomes for young people

The Torbay YOT is perceived by partners and staff as a relatively well performing service. Of the three KPIs identified by the Youth Justice Board, two (Re-offending and Custody rates) compare favourably with regional and national comparators and the third (FTEs) is now reducing although remaining above target (the South West average). However, there is little evidence of Board oversight of outcomes and challenge to performance across youth offending services beyond these three selected KPIs. More use could be made of performance insight and information to improve service, by both the Board and service managers.

This reduction in the number of FTEs is being achieved through improved partnership working with the police through the 370 process and the OOCD Panel. This process gives the opportunity for joint working with a range of partners and can capture victim's views prior to Panel decision.

The sample of ten cases reviewed in detail by the peer team showed examples of working with young people to achieve better outcomes, and the commitment and care demonstrated by staff in that work. They also demonstrated good joint working with other YOTs on casework, focused around the needs of the young person. There was a good example of use of the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) in respect of modern slavery.

However, assessments and in particular the rationale for assessed levels of risk were not always apparent from the AssetPlus record and service managers should seek assurance around risk management and the appropriateness of assessed levels of risk. The AssetPlus assessment tool was not being used to its full potential in undertaking assessments, recording case information and identifying and managing risk. The quality of assessments was variable – some were well written and coherent, others lacking information and analysis. This indicates a need for refresher training in the preparing and reviewing assessments and in the use of the AssetPlus assessment tool in support of this.

The weekly Case Planning Forum within the YOT provides opportunity for collaborative working with colleagues across the team on cases that are high risk or present other challenges. Team members identify the cases where they would value colleagues input and the practice of rotating the chairing role provided development opportunities for staff. In addition, a fortnightly to three weekly Case Officer meeting has recently been introduced – this seems similar to the Case Planning Forum but without the input of team managers. There seems to be potential duplication and both meetings may need a clearer focus / agenda to ensure good use of time.

Child focused practice is being increasingly adopted. There is increased awareness of contextual safeguarding and a strengthened approach to tackling exploitation, such as the regular multi agency risk management meetings for exploitation cases or cases presenting such a risk (the CEMOG arrangements). The exploitation toolkit recently developed in Torbay is used by the YOT. There is quarterly clinical supervision for case workers managing harmful sexual behaviours. A restorative practice approach is becoming established, enabling a more child focused approach with the Victim Support worker exploring creative solutions.

Court work by the YOT is well regarded by Magistrates courts, including pre-sentence reports and presentation by officers.

Practitioners welcomed the supervision received from their team managers as accessible, regular, challenging and helpful. However, there needs to be continuing attention to ensuring consistent management and supervision across teams within the YOT, given there are two Team Managers and staff seconded in from other partners.

The review of case files and discussions with staff suggest that there should be greater senior management oversight of very high risk cases, which may be related to the wide range of responsibilities held by the Head of Service; frequent changes in postholder and the difficulties of communication up the management tiers.

Increasing the proportion of the YOT cohort who are in employment, education or training (EET) is seen as a priority by the Board, because of the positive impact these have on long term outcomes for young people. The plan to reduce the number of Young People who are NEET will require increased focus and attention across partners as the environment for this will be made much more challenging by Covid-19. As a coastal area with a relatively weak economy and a high reliance on tourism, the impact on employment can be expected to be significant in Torbay. Staff and partners report an encouraging picture of generally strong relationships between the local authority and schools, colleges and other providers in this work.

#### 5. Next steps

We appreciate you will want to reflect on these findings and suggestions with your senior managerial and political leadership and across the wider partnership in order to determine how the Council wishes to take things forward.

As part of the peer review, there is an offer of further activity to support this. The original proposal for the peer review included further engagement with members of the YOT Management Board to help them take forward your response to the findings of the peer review. Since that proposal was agreed, an HMIP inspection of the YOS was scheduled for late October 2020. You will no doubt wish to take forward the findings of the peer review in the context of the outcome of that inspection. We would be happy to discuss how best to do this. The regional Principal Adviser, Paul Clarke, and Children's Improvement Adviser, Claire Burgess, are the main contacts between your authority and the LGA. Their contact details are: <a href="mailto:paul.clarke@local.gov.uk">paul.clarke@local.gov.uk</a> or tel. 07899 965730 and <a href="mailto:clarke.gov.uk">claire.burgess23@gmail.com</a> or tel. 07854 407337.

In the meantime, we are keen to continue the relationship we have formed with you and colleagues through the peer review. We will endeavour to provide additional information and signposting about the issues we have raised in this report to help inform your ongoing consideration.



## SCOPE OF LGA SUPPORT FOR TORBAY CHILDREN'S SERVICES TO DEVELOP THE YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE.

#### The Proposal

Further to the peer review and HMIP inspection of the Torbay Youth Offending service, the following proposal summarises the development work to be provided by the LGA. Kevin Hall and Samantha Matthews will lead this work as LGA associates. This work will benefit from the relationships already established between the peer review team and practitioners in Torbay.

Given the current COVID constraints it is anticipated that this work will be delivered virtually, in three parts, as described below:

#### 1) To strengthen the operational capability of the YOT service.

a) The LGA associates will deliver a best practice workshop comprising of 4 virtual sessions to be attended by staff of the Torbay YOT. These sessions will be scheduled over two days in January 2021. These sessions will focus on Out of Court work and will build on sessions previously delivered by Sam Matthews (East Riding YOT Lead) to practitioners across the country in training events hosted by the Youth Justice Board. The sessions will respond to the practice and operational management challenges identified in the Inspection and Peer Review Reports, focusing upon improvement of out of court work and introducing a specific assessment tool for use in work related to community solutions.

Session 1

Out of Court disposals – an improvement journey – developing outstanding practice

(developing effective panels, an assessment tool, working with victims, implementing restorative justice)

Session 2

Case Study – an out of court panel – what would you do?

(practical exercise in groups to consider a referral, assessment, disposal choice, and to propose an intervention plan. Followed by feedback, reflection and comparison with the actual disposal)

Session 3

Victims and Restorative Justice

(an overview of the victim's journey, approaches to restorative justice, key tips for outstanding practice)

Session 4

Innovation and creative work in Youth Justice

(building on examples of best practice)

- b) Drawing upon experience of the workshops, together with the insight drawn from the Peer Review and Inspection report, the LGA associates will facilitate sessions with small groups of key personnel from Torbay (potentially the Board Chairperson, senior leaders, practice managers and practioners) to develop and agree recommendations supporting practice development, changes and new initiatives. This work will also consider:
  - Revising current policy and procedures where needed (including assessment tools and panel process)
  - Options for strengthening the analytical capacity and capability of the service to understand its impact and effectiveness
  - ➤ Methods to be deployed to obtain and analyse feedback from children, young people and victims that will support understanding of the effectiveness of the YOT and inform strategic and operational developments.

The purpose of this work will be to address practice deficiencies identified in the two reports, build a body of support tools to improve practice and to secure data to better understand the quality of service that is provided and how those services are experienced by those most directly affected. This qualitative material will be a valuable source of information supporting management and practice. These sessions will be scheduled for late January in order to follow on from the workshops.

#### 2) To develop an effective YOT Board and Developmental Plan.

It is proposed that the LGA associates provide capacity to assist Torbay in producing revised terms of reference for the newly created YOT Board, together with a draft improvement plan outlining a work programme for the Board taking into account HMIP inspection report recommendations.

The purpose of this work will be to establish the constitution of the YOT Board, to have a clear plan reflecting the findings of the inspection and peer review and the means to effectively communicate its content so that it is understood by all key stakeholders and YOT professionals.

The work will be carried out through virtual discussion with the DCS and key colleagues as required, drafting and finalising documents to be signed off by the DCS. This work could be commenced now and completed in January/February.

Once this phase of the work is completed, a further Board induction and development session will be planned in consultation with the Board Chair/DCS.

#### 3) To develop a revised organisational structure for the YOT.

It is proposed that the LGA associates work with the Board Chairperson and Senior Leaders to determine the management arrangements of the YOT, including the appointment of a dedicated YOT manager and to make recommendations about how best to deliver its statutory court functions and its current out of court work streams.

This work will consider:

- the budget, structure and organisational location of the team
- the relationship with the wider Children's Service, including Early Help, Edge of Care and CAMHs services

➤ inter-dependencies with associated partnership arrangements such as MASCE, the Community Safety Partnership, The Health and Well-being Boards, the Safeguarding Partnership Board

The purpose of this work will be to strengthen all aspects of the current YOT function by offering revised and dedicated management capacity, clarity about the YOT's own professional identity and 'fit' with the Children's Service, and strengthened operational and strategic arrangements with partners across Torbay. The LGA associates will draw on best practice from other areas to inform this work. It is also suggested that this task could be commenced now and completed during January/February. This will require several virtual discussions with key leaders in Torbay and exchange of information and drafts by email.

#### Resources

We estimate that the preparation and delivery of the three elements of this assignment will require 15-20 days work for the Associates at a cost of £550 per day (total £8.25k-£11k) - subject to any revisions that are agreed as necessary by the nature of the work and the requirements of the client.

Kevin Hall

11<sup>th</sup> December 2020